FILED June 9, 2015 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

No. 72515-7-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

EC EDWARD COBB,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

MAUREEN M. CYR Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Mr. Cobb's constitutional right to jury unanimity was violated in regard to the witness tampering charge.

2. Mr. Cobb's constitutional right to jury unanimity was violated in regard to count one, felony violation of a court order.

3. Mr. Cobb's constitutional right to a public trial was violated because the trial court conducted peremptory challenges in writing.

4. The trial court violated Mr. Cobb's constitutional right to be present at all critical stages of the proceeding.

5. The judgment and sentence must be corrected to reflect that the jury did not find that the crimes were "domestic violence" offenses.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The witness tampering statute provides that "each instance of an attempt to tamper with a witness constitutes a separate offense." RCW 9A.72.120(3). In this case, the State presented evidence of 15 separate alleged instances of an attempt to tamper with a witness. But the jury was not instructed it must unanimously agree on the same underlying act, and the State did not elect a particular act it was relying upon. Was Mr. Cobb's constitutional right to a unanimous jury verdict violated?

2. If the jury is instructed on multiple alternative means of committing a crime, but the State does not present sufficient evidence to prove each means beyond a reasonable doubt, the defendant's constitutional right to jury unanimity is violated unless the jury is instructed it must unanimously agree as to a particular means. Was Mr. Cobb's constitutional right to jury unanimity violated where the jury was instructed on multiple means but the State did not present sufficient evidence to prove each means and the jury was not instructed it must be unanimous as to the means?

3. The constitutional right to an open trial extends to the jury selection process. Was the constitutional right to an open trial violated where the trial court permitted the parties to exercise peremptory challenges in writing at sidebar and not out loud in open court?

4. A criminal defendant has a constitutional right to be present at all "critical stages" including the jury selection process. Was Mr. Cobb's constitutional right to be present violated where the attorneys conducted peremptory challenges at sidebar in writing, in Mr. Cobb's absence?

5. The judgment and sentence states that Mr. Cobb was convicted of "domestic violence" offenses and that "domestic violence"

was pled and proved. But the jury never reached agreement or filled out the verdict form indicating it found a "domestic violence" offense had occurred. Must the judgment and sentence be corrected to remove any reference to "domestic violence"?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

EC Cobb and Monique Bojang have known each other for about seven years. 8/18/14RP 437. In April 2014, there was a no-contact order in place prohibiting Mr. Cobb from having contact with Ms. Bojang. Exhibit 1; 8/18/14RP 396, 444.

Ms. Bojang said that on April 29, 2014, Mr. Cobb called her and asked her to come over to his girlfriend's apartment in Kent so that he and Ms. Bojang could talk. 8/18/14RP 446. Ms. Bojang went to the apartment and Mr. Cobb let her inside. 8/18/14RP 449. Mr. Cobb's girlfriend, Louise Lucas, was not at home. 8/18/14RP 449.

Mr. Cobb and Ms. Bojang talked for about 45 minutes and then Ms. Bojang went back outside to her car. 8/18/14RP 450-51. Mr. Cobb followed soon afterward. 8/18/14RP 452. He got in the car and Ms. Bojang drove him to Jack in the Box, where they both got lunch. They returned to the parking lot of the apartment complex, where they sat in the car eating their food. 8/18/14RP 452-53.

Ms. Bojang said that after she and Mr. Cobb talked for a while longer in the car, Mr. Cobb became upset and aggressive. 8/18/14RP 454-55. She said he hit her with his fists and his open hand, in the face and along her side. 8/18/14RP 455-56. She said he stopped and they talked some more but then he began hitting her again. 8/18/14RP 456. There were three cycles of hitting. 8/18/14RP 456. Ms. Bojang called 911. 8/18/14RP 457.

A police officer arrived and contacted Ms. Bojang in her car. 8/18/14RP 414-15. The officer did not notice any injuries on Ms. Bojang. 8/18/14RP 421. She directed his attention to a scratch on her left cheek and a scratch on her bottom lip. 8/18/14RP 422. The officer did not observe any bruises, welts, or swelling on Ms. Bojang, nor any other injuries on her face. 8/18/14RP 429. Ms. Bojang said she did not need medical attention and was "fine." 8/18/14RP 466.

Police officers arrested Mr. Cobb. 8/18/14RP 527-28; 8/19/14RP 559.

Mr. Cobb was charged with one count of felony violation of a no-contact order. CP 10-11; RCW 26.50.110(1), (4), (5). The State alleged Mr. Cobb committed the crime by three alternative means: (a) by "intentionally assaulting" Ms. Bojang; (b) by "conduct which was

reckless and created substantial risk of death or serious physical injury" to Ms. Bojang; or (c) "at the time of the above violation [Mr. Cobb] did have at least two prior convictions for violating the provisions of" a nocontact order. CP 10.

The State also charged Mr. Cobb with an additional count of felony violation of a no-contact order, based on a number of telephone calls he allegedly made to Ms. Bojang from jail on the day of his arrest. CP 11, 266.¹ Finally, the State charged Mr. Cobb with one count of witness intimidation, based on a series of several telephone calls he allegedly made from jail between April 29 and August 4, 2014. CP 12.

Before trial, during jury selection, the attorneys and the court conducted peremptory challenges on paper and not out loud in court. 8/14/14/RP [voir dire] 50-52, 66; Sub #32.

At trial, in support of the witness intimidation charge, the State presented evidence of a total of 15 separate telephone calls that Mr. Cobb allegedly made from jail over a period of three months. 8/19/14RP 587-99; Exhibit 27(A and B) - Exhibit 41(A and B). No

¹ The State also charged Mr. Cobb with a third count of felony violation of a court order, based on telephone calls he allegedly made to Ms. Bojang on the day of the incident, while she was sitting in her car and before his arrest. CP 11, 264; 8/20/14RP 771. The jury acquitted him of that charge. CP 171.

unanimity instruction was provided to the jurors informing them that they must unanimously agree on a particular alleged act constituting the offense. The jury found Mr. Cobb not guilty of witness intimidation but guilty of the lesser-included offense of witness tampering. CP 168-69, 272-74.

The jury was instructed on all three charged alternative means of felony violation of a no-contact order for count one. CP 256. The jury was instructed it need not be unanimous as to which alternative was proved beyond a reasonable doubt, as long as each juror found that at least one alternative was proved beyond a reasonable doubt. CP 256. The jury found Mr. Cobb guilty of count one as charged. CP 172.

Additional facts are set forth in the relevant argument sections below.

D. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

- 1. Mr. Cobb's constitutional right to a unanimous jury verdict was violated in regard to the witness tampering conviction
 - a. Because the State presented evidence of several distinct acts of possible witness tampering, either the court was required to provide a unanimity instruction, or the State was required to elect a particular act it was relying upon

In Washington, an accused may be convicted only when a unanimous jury concludes that the criminal act charged in the information has been committed. <u>State v. Kitchen</u>, 110 Wn.2d 403, 409, 756 P.2d 105 (1988). When the prosecution presents evidence of several acts that could form the basis of the charge, either the State must tell the jury which act to rely upon in its deliberations, or the court must instruct the jury that all of them must agree that the same underlying criminal act has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State v. Petrich</u>, 101 Wn.2d 566, 570, 683 P.2d 173 (1984). Failure to follow one of these options is "violative of a defendant's state constitutional right to a unanimous jury verdict and United States constitutional right to a jury trial." <u>Kitchen</u>, 110 Wn.2d at 409; Const. art. I, § 22; U.S. Const. amend VI. "The error stems from the possibility that some jurors may have relied on one act or incident and

some another, resulting in a lack of unanimity on all of the elements necessary for a valid conviction." <u>Kitchen</u>, 110 Wn.2d at 411.

Failure to provide a unanimity instruction when required is a manifest constitutional error that may be raised for the first time on appeal. <u>State v. Moultrie</u>, 143 Wn. App. 387, 392, 177 P.3d 776 (2008); RAP 2.5(a)(3).

The <u>Petrich</u> rule applies in cases where the State presents evidence of "several distinct acts" and does not apply where the evidence indicates a "continuing course of conduct." <u>State v. Handran</u>, 113 Wn.2d 11, 17, 775 P.2d 453 (1989). To determine whether criminal conduct constitutes one continuing act, the facts must be evaluated in a commonsense manner. <u>Id</u>. For example, "where the evidence involves conduct at different times and places, then the evidence tends to show 'several distinct acts."" <u>Id</u>.

For the crime of witness tampering, the Legislature has already determined that "each instance of an attempt to tamper with a witness constitutes a separate offense." RCW 9A.72.120(3). The Legislature passed this amendment to the witness tampering statute in 2011, in response to the Washington Supreme Court's decision in <u>State v. Hall</u>,

168 Wn.2d 726, 230 P.3d 1048 (2010). See Laws 2011, ch. 165, § 1.

In passing the new statute, the Legislature explained,

In response to <u>State v. Hall</u>, 168 Wn.2d 726 (2010), the legislature intends to clarify that each instance of an attempt to intimidate or tamper with a witness constitutes a separate violation for purposes of determining the unit of prosecution under the statutes governing tampering with a witness and intimidating a witness.

<u>Id</u>.

The Legislature's decision to amend the statute in response to <u>Hall</u> demonstrates the Legislature's rejection of the court's reasoning in that case. In <u>Hall</u>, the defendant made several telephone calls to a potential witness while he was in jail pending trial on criminal charges, trying to persuade the witness not to testify, or to testify falsely. <u>Hall</u>, 168 Wn.2d at 729. Based on phone calls made on three separate dates, Hall was convicted of three counts of witness tampering. <u>Id</u>. The Supreme Court vacated two of the convictions, holding that only a single crime occurred because "the unit of prosecution is the ongoing attempt to persuade a witness not to testify in a proceeding." <u>Id</u>. at 734, 737. According to the <u>Hall</u> court, witness tampering is a "continuing offense" that is not "committed anew with each single act of attempting to persuade a potential witness not to testify or testify falsely." <u>Id</u>. at 730.

In response to <u>Hall</u>, the Legislature amended the witness tampering statute, which now reads: "each instance of an attempt to tamper with a witness constitutes a separate offense." RCW 9A.72.120(3); <u>see</u> Laws 2011, ch. 165, § 1. Thus, contrary to <u>Hall</u>, witness tampering is not a "continuing offense," but is instead committed anew each time a person "attempt[s] to tamper with a witness." RCW 9A.72.120(3). If the charge is based on a series of telephone calls, each individual call in which the offender attempts to tamper with a witness is a "separate offense." <u>Id</u>.

In order to safeguard the constitutional right to jury unanimity in a witness tampering case, therefore, if the State presents evidence of several telephone calls that could each form the basis of the charge, either the State must elect the act it is relying upon, or the court must instruct the jury that all of them must agree that the same underlying criminal act has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Petrich</u>, 101 Wn.2d at 570. b. Mr. Cobb's constitutional right to jury unanimity was violated because the jury was not provided with a unanimity instruction and the State did not elect the particular act it was relying upon

In this case, the State presented evidence of several distinct acts that could form the basis of the witness tampering charge. The State presented evidence of a total of 15 individual telephone calls that Mr. Cobb allegedly made from jail, in which he purportedly attempted to tamper with Ms. Bojang, a potential witness in the case. 8/19/14RP 587-99; Exhibit 27(A and B) – Exhibit 41(A and B). Yet the jurors were not provided with an instruction informing them they must unanimously agree on a particular act. Moreover, the State did not elect a particular act it was relying upon. See 8/20/14RP 786-87. To the contrary, the deputy prosecutor told the jury during closing argument that they could consider the entire "set of 15 calls" in deciding whether witness tampering had occurred. Id.

Because the jury was not instructed it must agree that the same underlying criminal act occurred, and the prosecutor did not elect which act it was relying upon, Mr. Cobb's constitutional right to jury unanimity was violated. <u>Kitchen</u>, 110 Wn.2d at 409; <u>Petrich</u>, 101 Wn.2d at 570.

c. The error is not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, requiring that the conviction be reversed

The error is presumed prejudicial and will be deemed harmless only if no rational trier of fact could have a reasonable doubt as to whether each alleged telephone call established the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>See Kitchen</u>, 110 Wn.2d at 411. If there was conflicting testimony as to whether any of the alleged calls supported the charge, or if a rational juror could have entertained reasonable doubt as to whether one or more of them actually established the offense, the conviction must be reversed. Id. at 412.

The unanimity error was not harmless because the evidence was not sufficient to prove that each separate telephone call established the elements of witness tampering beyond a reasonable doubt. To prove the crime, the State was required to prove the following elements:

(1) That on or about April 29, 2014 to August 4, 2014, the defendant attempted to induce a witness or person he has reason to believe is about to be called as a witness in any official proceeding, or a person whom he has reason to believe may have information relevant to a criminal investigation, to testify falsely, or to withhold any testimony without right or privilege to do so, or to absent herself from such proceedings, or to withhold from a law enforcement agency information which she has relevant to a criminal investigation; and

(2) That the other person was a witness or a person the defendant had reason to believe was about to

be called as a witness in any official proceedings or a person whom the defendant had reason to believe might have information relevant to a criminal investigation; and

(3) That the acts occurred in the State of Washington. . . .

CP 274; see RCW 9A.72.120.

For at least several of the jail telephone calls, the content of the call was insufficient to establish the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. The conversations that occurred were often vague and ambiguous and did not clearly amount to an attempt to tamper with a witness. For example, in the first call, allegedly placed by Mr. Cobb to his girlfriend Ms. Lucas on the afternoon of his arrest, Mr. Cobb did not clearly attempt to tamper with a witness.² In the conversation, Mr. Cobb denied slapping Ms. Bojang and asked Ms. Lucas to "make sure I get some money on my books." Exhibit 27B at 2-3. He requested that she call his sister and "tell her that, she'll know what to do as far as such-and-such is concerned and everything okay, and to make sure that she takes care of, of her business." <u>Id</u>. at 4. He told Ms. Lucas to

[c]all her up, send her a text, or whatever and let her know what's going on. And that 'she was at the house,' that 'I wasn't nowhere, I didn't go nowhere' or whatever, 'she came over'... there and she needs to tell these people what she needs to tell 'em. Like she's been talking about saying.

² The transcript of the first telephone call, admitted as Exhibit 27B, is attached as Appendix A.

<u>Id</u>. at 5. He ended the call by telling Ms. Lucas to "stay sharp" and "see if you can get my sister to take care of that business and everything. To get that girl to go ahead and drop that." <u>Id</u>. at 7. Mr. Cobb was no more specific about what he was asking Ms. Lucas to do. He said nothing more that could be construed as an attempt to tamper with a witness.

Similarly, in a call allegedly placed by Mr. Cobb to Ms. Lucas two days later, Mr. Cobb said, "it sounds good right now, so we have a few things to work on and everything to, to pass on and everything and we'll see, we'll see how it goes, okay?"³ Exhibit 31B at 2. He said, "this right here can be broken down if we do it now." <u>Id</u>. He concluded by saying,

> I had a real quick brief about you know what was being done, and what, what to do and things like that, and everything, and it sounded . . . cool, I'll leave it at that. As far as my sister, and things that we could relay, and everything then, you know, that's what we'll do.

<u>Id</u>. Again, it is not clear what the participants in this conversation were referring to, or what they intended. The call does not establish the elements of witness tampering beyond a reasonable doubt.

³ A transcript of the call, admitted as Exhibit 31B, is attached as Appendix B.

Finally, in a call allegedly placed by Mr. Cobb to a male friend named "Loco" about a week later, Mr. Cobb told his friend, "it's not looking too good man."⁴ Exhibit 34B at 3. He asked if Loco remembered "that number" for his "broad." <u>Id</u>. He told him to "do that man and, and say 'What do Yessirree gotta do, man, to get a pick up?' okay?" <u>Id</u>. He said, "I got a couple witnesses," and "we're gonna put things right." <u>Id</u>. at 4. He ended the call by saying, "we gotta play our parts now though and try to, you know, do it right." <u>Id</u>. at 6. Again, it is not clear what this conversation is about. The conversation does not amount to an attempt to tamper with a witness beyond a reasonable doubt.

Plainly the conversations that took place in each of these calls were insufficient to prove the elements of witness tampering. None of the calls demonstrates beyond a reasonable doubt an attempt to induce a witness to testify falsely, to withhold testimony, to absent herself from a proceeding, or to withhold relevant information from a law enforcement agency. <u>See</u> CP 274; RCW 9A.72.120. Many of the other calls are similarly cryptic and ambiguous. <u>See</u> Exhibits 27B - 41B. Thus, because a rational trier of fact could have a reasonable doubt as

⁴ A transcript of the telephone call, admitted as Exhibit 34B, is attached as Appendix C.

to whether some of the alleged telephone calls established the offense beyond a reasonable doubt, the unanimity error was not harmless and the conviction must be reversed. Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d at 411-12.

2. The conviction for felony violation of a court order in count one must be reversed because the State did not present sufficient evidence to prove all three charged alternative means of committing the crime

Article I, section 21 requires a unanimous jury verdict in criminal cases. When the State alleges a defendant committed a crime by alternative means, and the jury is instructed on multiple means, the right to a unanimous jury requires the jury unanimously agree on the means by which it finds the defendant committed the offense. <u>State v.</u> <u>Owens</u>, 180 Wn.2d 90, 95, 323 P.2d 1030 (2014); Const. art. I, § 21. If the jury returns "a particularized expression" as to the means relied upon for the conviction, the unanimity requirement is met. <u>State v.</u> <u>Ortega-Martinez</u>, 124 Wn.2d 702,707-08,881 P.2d 231 (1994). But "[a] general verdict of guilty on a single count charging the commission of a crime by alternative means will be upheld only if sufficient evidence supports each alternative means." <u>State v. Kintz</u>, 3 169 Wn.2d 537, 552, 238 P.3d 470, 477-78 (2010) (citing <u>Ortega-Martinez</u>, 124 Wn.2d at707-08); Owens, 180 Wn.2d at 99. Mr. Cobb may challenge the lack of a unanimous jury verdict as to each charged alternative means for the first time on appeal. <u>State v.</u> <u>Peterson</u>, 174 Wn. App. 828, 849 n.5, 301 P.3d 1060 (2013); RAP 2.5(a)(3).

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