FILED
Oct 01, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

NO. 72515-7-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

E.C. EDWARD COBB,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY THE HONORABLE ANDREA DARVAS

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

KRISTIN A. RELYEA
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

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

Alternatively, Cobb sought to compel Bojang's absence.

Cobb suggested financing a trip for Bojang to Hawaii, and asked his sister to help him coordinate the timing of those efforts. Ex. 32B at 8-9 ("find out, when the Hawaii thing's going on because I'll get the money for that . . . we'll make sure that, we'll get that going"), 13 ("but listen about that Hawaii thing, if she's gonna get there then we'll make sure that, um, you know we, we make that happen").

Cobb even suggested straight out bribery. Ex. 32B at 13 ("somebody need to stay in her ear . . . and sometimes they be offering money and all that").

Further, Cobb insisted that his sister instruct Bojang to "[r]efrain from everything" because "if there is no . . . interview . . . then this case gets dropped." Ex. 32B at 9, 17 ("make sure that, um, you know about the, the little interviews and stuff and everything, if that happens then there's no way that this stuff can get dropped . . . She can't go to none of the interviews and stuff like that").

Although Cobb's calls spanned a little over three months and involved different intermediaries, they shared the same goal of tampering with Bojang. Indeed, the breadth and diversity of Cobb's

efforts convinced the judge to impose an exceptional sentence on the witness tampering conviction:

... [Y]ou just kept doing stuff that got you in deeper: Calling Ms. Bojang from the jail. Calling everybody you could to go out and convince her not to meet with your lawyer because maybe then the charges would go away; convince her not to come to court. Gee, maybe even help pay for a trip to Hawaii . . . [I]f I sentence you to a DOSA, or even if I just sentence you to a standard range sentence, there is no penalty for any of that stuff.

9RP 878.

Cobb appears to argue that the Legislature's decision to amend the witness tampering statute to provide that "each instance or an attempt to tamper with a witness constitutes a separate offense," somehow requires the conclusion that "witness tampering is not a 'continuing offense." Appellant's Opening Br. at 10.

Cobb's claim should be rejected. Although the Legislature amended the statute "to clarify" the unit of prosecution in response to State v. Hall, 168 Wn.2d 726, 230 P.3d 1048 (2010), neither the case, nor the amendment, compels the conclusion that Cobb proposes. Laws of 2011, ch. 165, § 1.

In <u>Hall</u>, the Washington Supreme Court held that the plain language of the witness tampering statute indicated that the Legislature "intended to criminalize inducing *'a' witness* not to

testify or to testify falsely." 168 Wn.2d at 737 (emphasis added). Consequently, the court concluded that the defendant's numerous telephone calls to his girlfriend constituted one unit of prosecution. Id.

The court did not address the precise issue presented here, specifically whether a number of telephone calls to four people over a limited time period, all aimed at influencing one person's testimony, constitute a continuing course of conduct. Based on the court's decision in <u>Hall</u>, the Legislature amended the witness tampering statute to clarify that the unit of prosecution for witness tampering is each instance that a defendant attempts to tamper with a witness. Laws of 2011, ch. 165, § 1, 3.

Here, the substance and intent behind Cobb's phone calls make sense only when considered as a whole. Cobb correctly argues that each phone call does not establish the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. The prosecutor properly argued that the jury should consider the calls as a whole, given Cobb's efforts to accomplish his singular goal of tampering with Bojang, while simultaneously attempting to circumvent detection by "speaking in code," and never referring to Bojang by name. Considering the calls together, in a commonsense manner, compels the conclusion

that Cobb's multiple jail calls reflected a continuing course of conduct aimed at securing Bojang's cooperation by convincing her to either testify falsely, or absent herself from the proceedings.

2. SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE SUPPORTS COBB'S FELONY VIOLATION OF A COURT ORDER CONVICTION.

Cobb argues that his felony violation of a court order conviction on count one should be reversed because the State failed to present sufficient evidence on the alternative means that his conduct was reckless and created a substantial risk of death or serious physical injury to Bojang. Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, Cobb's claim fails. There was sufficient evidence from which a rational trier of fact could reasonably conclude that Cobb recklessly hit and slapped Bojang in the head, creating a substantial risk of serious physical injury.

A criminal defendant's right to a unanimous jury verdict includes the right to a unanimous jury determination on the means by which the defendant committed the crime. Const. art. I, § 21; State v. Owens, 180 Wn.2d 90, 95, 323 P.3d 1030 (2014). Express jury unanimity is not required if there is sufficient evidence to support each of the alternative means of committing the crime.

Owens, 180 Wn.2d at 95. If, however, there is insufficient evidence

to support any of the alternative means, then a particularized expression of jury unanimity is required. <u>Id.</u>

A person is guilty of felony violation of a court order if he knowingly violates a no-contact order and the person (1) assaults another, (2) engages in conduct that is reckless and creates a substantial risk of death or serious physical injury to another, or (3) has twice been previously convicted for violating the provisions of a court order. RCW 26.50.110(1), (4), (5). Although the Legislature has not defined the term "serious physical injury," it has defined "physical injury" as "physical pain or injury, illness, or an impairment of physical condition." RCW 9A.04.110(4)(a); see State v. Welker, 37 Wn. App. 628, 638 n.2, 683 P.2d 1110 (1984) (recognizing the lack of definition of "serious physical injury," and suggesting that the "term speaks for itself" and can be determined by common sense).

At trial, the State must prove each element of the charged crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Alvarez, 128 Wn.2d 1, 13, 904 P.2d 754 (1995). Evidence is sufficient to support a conviction if, viewed in a light most favorable to the State, it permits any rational trier of fact to find the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201,

829 P.2d 1068 (1992). "A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence and all reasonable inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom." <u>Id.</u> Circumstantial and direct evidence are equally reliable. <u>State v. Fiser</u>, 99 Wn. App. 714, 718, 995 P.2d 107 (2000).

A reviewing court must defer to the trier of fact on issues of conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses, and the persuasiveness of the evidence. <u>Id.</u> at 719. The reviewing court need not be convinced of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, but only that there is substantial evidence in the record to support the conviction. <u>Id.</u> at 718.

Here, the "to convict" instructions for felony violation of a court order as charged in count one required the State to prove that Cobb knowingly violated a no-contact order and that he committed an assault, engaged in reckless conduct that created a substantial risk of death or serious physical injury to another, or that he had twice previously been convicted of violating a court order. CP 256. The court instructed the jury that it "need not be unanimous as to which of the alternatives . . . has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt, as long as each juror finds that at least one alternative has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt." Id.

Cobb challenges solely the sufficiency of the State's evidence that he engaged in reckless conduct that created a substantial risk of death or serious physical injury to Bojang.

Cobb's claim fails because there is substantial evidence from which a rational trier of fact could conclude that his conduct toward Bojang was reckless and caused a substantial risk of serious physical injury.

Bojang testified that Cobb repeatedly hit and slapped her with both his fists and open hands. 6RP 456, 516. Cobb hit Bojang's face and side a "couple of times," despite Bojang's efforts to "block his punches." 6RP 456. Cobb engaged in "three cycles" of hitting and slapping Bojang in her car. 6RP 456. Bojang sustained a swollen and cut lip, and a scratch on her left cheek. 6RP 422-23, 502. Bojang complained to Cobb later that day that she had a headache, and a "frickin' sore, swollen" face. Ex. 29B at 2; Ex. 30B at 4.

Given this record, there is substantial evidence from which a rational trier of fact could conclude that Bojang faced a "substantial risk of . . . serious physical injury." CP 256 (emphasis added).

Cobb repeatedly hit Bojang in the face at close range. 6RP 456.

Cobb twice landed punches on Bojang's face and along her side.
6RP 456.

Using a common sense approach, a rational trier of fact could conclude that such reckless conduct by Cobb created a substantial risk that Bojang might suffer a serious physical injury. For example, a blow to the head could result in a concussion, a loss of consciousness, a fractured orbital socket, vision loss, a broken nose or jaw, a missing tooth, and other serious maladies. See State v. R.H.S., 94 Wn. App. 844, 847, 974 P.2d 1253 (1999) ("Without question, any reasonable person knows that punching someone in the face could result in a broken jaw, nose, or teeth, each of which would constitute substantial bodily harm.").

Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, and drawing all reasonable inferences therefrom, there is sufficient evidence from which a rational trier of fact could find that Cobb engaged in reckless conduct that created a substantial risk of serious physical injury to Bojang. Cobb's claim should be rejected.

3. CONDUCTING PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES IN WRITING DID NOT VIOLATE COBB'S RIGHT TO A PUBLIC TRIAL, OR RIGHT TO BE PRESENT.

Cobb argues that the court's procedure of conducting peremptory challenges in writing violated both his right to a public

trial, and right to be present. Cobb's claims are foreclosed by the Washington Supreme Court's recent, unanimous decision in <u>State v. Love</u>, __ Wn.2d __, 354 P.3d 841, 845-46 (2015), holding that the exercise of peremptory challenges in writing did not violate a defendant's right to a public trial, and that a defendant's absence from a bench conference where for-cause challenges were conducted did not violate a defendant's right to be present.

Article I, section 10 of the Washington Constitution provides, "Justice in all cases shall be administered openly." This provision guarantees the public's right to open, accessible proceedings.

State v. Lormor, 172 Wn.2d 85, 91, 257 P.3d 624 (2011). A criminal defendant's right to a public trial is guaranteed by both the state and federal constitutions. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Wash.

Const. art. I, § 22. The presumption of openness extends to voir dire. State v. Momah, 167 Wn.2d 140, 148, 217 P.3d 321 (2009); Presley v. Georgia, 558 U.S. 209, 213, 130 S. Ct. 721, 175 L. Ed. 2d 675 (2010). Whether the right to a public trial has been violated is a question of law that is reviewed *de novo*. State v. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d 58, 70, 292 P.3d 715 (2012).

In <u>Love</u>, the court concluded that the written exercise of peremptory challenges did not amount to a courtroom closure, reasoning:

... [T]he public had ample opportunity to oversee the selection of Love's jury because no portion of the process was concealed from the public; no juror was questioned in chambers. To the contrary, observers could watch the trial judge and counsel ask questions of potential jurors, listen to the answers to those questions, see counsel exercise challenges at the bench and on paper, and ultimately evaluate the empaneled jury . . . written peremptory challenges are consistent with the public trial right so long as they are filed in the public record.

354 P.3d at 845.

The facts of this case mirror those in Love. The court conducted all of voir dire in open court. Supp CP __ (sub. 29C at 7-11). No juror was questioned in chambers. Cobb, along with any other member of the public, could observe the court and counsel question the potential jurors, listen to their answers, and watch as counsel exercised their challenges at the bench and on paper. The court filed the piece of paper used by the parties to indicate their challenges, making public review possible. CP 278-79. Given this record and the court's holding in Love, Cobb's public trial rights claim fails.

Cobb's additional claim that the exercise of written peremptory challenges violated his right to be present also fails under Love. Both the state and federal constitutions guarantee a defendant's right to be present at "critical stages" of a criminal proceeding where the defendant's presence would contribute to the fairness of the procedure. U.S. Const. amend VI, XIV; Kentucky v. Stincer, 482 U.S. 730, 745, 107 S. Ct. 2658, 96 L. Ed. 2d 631 (1987); Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 3, 22; State v. Rice, 110 Wn.2d 577, 616-17, 757 P.2d 889 (1988) (applying Stincer). Whether a defendant's constitutional right to be present has been violated is a question of law that is reviewed *de novo*. State v. Irby, 170 Wn.2d 874, 880, 246 P.3d 796 (2011).

In <u>Love</u>, the court recognized that jury selection is a critical stage of a criminal trial under both the state and federal constitutions. 354 P.3d at 846. Nonetheless, the court held that the defendant's right to be present was not violated when the court heard for-cause challenges at a bench conference in the defendant's absence. <u>Id.</u> The court noted that the defendant was present in the courtroom during all of voir dire, and heard the potential jurors' answers to questions that formed the basis of the challenges. <u>Id.</u>

Further, the court distinguished the facts in <u>Love</u> from those in <u>Irby</u>, where the court held that the defendant's right to be present was violated where a portion of jury selection occurred between the court and counsel over email, without consultation with the jailed defendant. 354 P.3d at 846 (citing <u>Irby</u>, 170 Wn.2d at 884). The court reasoned that unlike the facts in <u>Irby</u>, nothing suggested that the defendant in <u>Love</u> "could not consult with his attorney about which jurors to challenge or meaningfully participate in the process." 354 P.3d at 846.

Similar to the defendant in <u>Love</u>, and unlike the defendant in <u>Irby</u>, Cobb was present for all of voir dire. Supp CP __ (sub. 29C at 7-11). He heard the questions asked of the potential jurors, he heard their answers, and he watched his counsel conduct peremptory challenges at the bench. <u>Id.</u> Cobb does not argue that he did not have the chance to consult with his attorney about which jurors to challenge, or that he was unable to participate in the process.

The only difference separating the cases is that the defendant argued in <u>Love</u> that the exercise of for-cause challenges at a bench conference, rather than written peremptory challenges, violated his right to be present. 354 P.3d at 845-46. This minor difference is immaterial. There is no reason to conclude that a defendant's right to

be present for peremptory challenges would be greater than his right to be present for for-cause challenges.

Cobb's suggestion in a parenthetical citation that another division of this Court has held "the right to be present violated by court's excusal of juror in Miller's absence," should be rejected as an inaccurate overstatement. Appellant's Opening Br. at 33 (citing State v. Miller, 184 Wn. App. 637, 646-47, 338 P.3d 873 (2014), review denied, 182 Wn.2d 1024 (2015)). In Miller, Division Two did not address the merits of the defendant's right to be present claim, but held instead that "even if Miller's right to be present was violated, this violation was harmless error." 184 Wn. App. at 646.

Further, Cobb's other parenthetical citation to a New York case purportedly holding that "exclusion of defendant from sidebar conference where jurors excused by agreement violated right to be present; court refused to speculate that defendant could overhear conversations," is also an overstatement. Appellant's Opening Br. at 33 (citing People v. Williams, 858 N.Y.S.2d 147, 52 A.D.3d 94, 96-97 (2008)). In Williams, the defendant "was not present during the questioning of three potential jurors." 52 A.D.3d at 95. The court questioned three potential jurors individually at sidebar about their right to be impartial with only counsel present. <u>Id.</u> at 95-96. The facts

of <u>Williams</u> are a far cry from those presented here where no juror was questioned at sidebar, and where it is undisputed that Cobb was present for all of the venire's questioning.

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